
Solid Waste Interjurisdictional Technical Staff Work Group 
(ITSG) 

Approved October 24, 2007 
King Street Center 

 
Meeting Attendees: 

City Staff: County Staff: 
Kathleen Edman – City of Auburn Brad Bell, SWD 
Sharon Hlavka – City of Auburn Jennifer Broadus, SWD 
Tom Spille – City of Bellevue Jeff Gaisford, SWD 
Rob Van Orsow – City of Federal Way Jane Gateley, SWD 
John MacGillivray – City of Kirkland Josh Marx, SWD 
Stacey Breskin-Auer – City of Redmond Bill Reed, SWD 
 Thea Severn, SWD 
 Diane Yates, SWD 

 
I. Review Agenda and Minutes 
Everyone present introduced themselves.   
 
ITSG member Rob Van Orsow volunteered to give the ITSG update at the November 
Metropolitan Solid Waste Management Advisory Committee (MSWMAC) meeting. 
 
The draft September 26th meeting notes was unanimously approved. 
 
II. SWD Updates 
Intergovernmental Relations Liaison Diane Yates reported that the Regional Policy 
Committee (RPC) met on September 26th and approved the ITSG legislation making 
ITSG a permanent committee to assist MSWMAC.  There were no amendments to that 
legislation. 
 
On October 10th, the RPC discussed the ordinance for the Solid Waste Transfer and 
Waste Export System Plan (Plan).  There was an amendment to change the title to the 
Solid Waste Transfer and Waste Management Plan, and language added requiring the 
division to consider options for extending the life of the Cedar Hills Landfill.  The third 
party review report by Gershman, Brickner & Bratton, Inc. (GBB) was attached to the 
Plan. 
 
There was a power outage last week at the Factoria Transfer Station due to storm 
damage.  Traffic was diverted to the Renton and Bow Lake Transfer Stations.  Customers 
were not diverted to the Houghton Transfer Station since that station is over capacity. 
 
CleanScapes, Inc. won the contract bid on October 22nd to provide the City of Shoreline 
with solid waste services.  The City of Seattle decided that Waste Management, Inc. 
would service two areas in Seattle, and CleanScapes will service a third area.  The City of 
Shoreline new contract will offer curbside collection of fluorescent bulbs.  Division staff 
member Josh Marx said that the new contract is for seven years with two, two year 
extensions.  The effective date of the new contract is March 1st.  Yates said that there is 
more detailed information available on the City of Shoreline’s website.   

 1



 
Yates reported that Interim Department Director Theresa Jennings’ permanent 
appointment to become the Director of the Department of Natural Resources and Parks 
(DNRP) has been transmitted by the Executive to council.  Van Orsow asked if Interim 
Solid Waste Division Director Kevin Kiernan would then become permanent in the 
division director position.  Yates said that the position is appointed by the Department 
Director and the Executive.  For now all division appointments will remain interim. 
 
 
III. Cities’ Curbside Collection Services Matrix: Review/Edit 
Marx circulated a matrix listing the cities’ curbside collection services.  Marx said that 
this is a draft list compiled a year ago.  The 2006 data was just a starting point and the 
information has been updated for 2007. 
 
Van Orsow commented that since there is both current and old information on the matrix, 
it would be helpful to take 2006 off the title and to separate the 2006 data from the 2007 
services. 
 
Division staff member Bill Reed said that the 2007 data will be available in 
approximately three and a half months. 
 
Marx said that there is more information available in this matrix that was not printed, 
such as rates and educational programs.  ITSG member Kathleen Edman asked if the full 
matrix could be sent to ITSG electronically. A copy of the matrix can be viewed at: 
http://www.metrokc.gov/extranet/dnrp/swd/cityserviceschart.xls
 
ITSG member Tom Spille said that the yard waste customers are increasing for the City 
of Bellevue and he will send more detailed data to Marx later today. 
 
Edman said that the City of Auburn’s contract renewal is 2010, and all of the “nd – no 
data’s” should be marked as “No”.  
 
Recycling and Environmental Services Manager Jeff Gaisford said that the matrix was 
brought to ITSG to illustrate the different level of services offered throughout King 
County.  ITSG member Sharon Hlavka said that this matrix could be used as a model.  
Gaisford commented that a model baseline for collection services could be developed as 
part of the Comp Plan update.  Marx said the contract dates for renewal widely vary.  He 
said that it is challenging to come up with a single model when information is always 
changing.  
 
Hlavka wanted to know what causes the difference in recycling rates.  Gaisford said that 
there was a previous study conducted in 2000 looking at several factors.  That 
information is currently being updated.  In that previous study, data showed that the main 
factors were:  bin size, frequency of collection, and the range of materials collected.  
Other factors that affect garbage and recycling tonnages are family size and income. 
 
Van Orsow asked about the study Jeff Morris is producing, and if this study is being 
managed internally.  Gaisford said that the majority of this data will be handled 

 2

http://www.metrokc.gov/extranet/dnrp/swd/cityserviceschart.xls


internally.  Reed said that the rates are being handled by division staff member Tom 
Karston and that Jeff Morris will be looking at the frequency.  Gaisford said that 
February’s ITSG meeting will have supporting recommendations based on this 
information.  Interim Lead Planner Thea Severn added that those recommendations will 
continue through March.  Gaisford said that the study will examine critical factors that 
impact curbside recycling rates.  These factors can then be used as a guideline to compare 
cities current contracts and see where there is opportunity for change.  
 
Hlavka asked what the cities would need to contribute if the recycling rate is set to 75 
percent.  She asked that this information be clearly defined.  Gaisford said that this 
information would be available when the recycling recommendations are discussed for 
the Comp Plan.   
 
Additional updates and edits to the cities matrix should be provided to Josh Marx at, 
Josh.Marx@kingcounty.gov or (206) 296-4429.  
 
IV. Product Stewardship Tour Report 
Gaisford said that the Northwest Product Stewardship Council hosted a tour to British 
Columbia, Canada on October 2nd.  There were 70 people present from both Washington 
and Oregon, including policy makers, SWAC members, and recycling staff.  The tour 
was planned to provide an opportunity to learn about British Columbia’s product 
stewardship programs.   
 
Provincial and local government representatives gave presentations.  Provincial law sets 
the framework for product stewardship programs.  In Canada, brands are identified, then 
the private sector implements the product stewardship programs, and then the 
government reviews them.  With this approach, two new products are added every three 
years.  Provincewide, the services are valued at 60 million dollars.  These are costs that 
the province does not have to pay.  Van Orsow asked if the stated value factors in the cost 
of transportation.  Gaisford replied that it was not fully explained during the presentation, 
but this figure reflects the value to the government of having the private sector manage 
the recycling of these products. 
 
Gaisford said that Washington State Senator Adam Kline commented during the tour that 
we need similar framework legislation here and he was excited to discuss the idea with 
colleagues and staff.  California is looking at similar framework legislation. 
 
ITSG member Stacey Breskin-Auer said that the legislation requires retailers to take 
items back and they have made this very positive.  The recycling depots are in front of 
stores, brightly lit, and very clean.  The legislation was the missing element needed to 
start these programs. 
 
The presentations were focused on local benefits.  Data on recycling rate composition 
was presented.  The recycling rate is 50 percent, with 15 percent resulting from product 
stewardship efforts.   
 

 3

mailto:Josh.Marx@kingcounty.gov


Van Orsow asked how much of the 15 percent product stewardship recyclables are from 
beverage containers versus other product stewardship initiatives.  Gaisford said that he 
only has the figure of 15 percent which was from the presentation. 
 
The Product Care organization is a third party company.  Manufacturers approach 
Product Care to set up recycling depots, including HHW collection.  Some offer a full 
range of services, similar to the programs at the Factoria Transfer Station and 
Wastemobile.  The recycling depots take beverage containers, which is not offered in 
curbside service.  
 
Gaisford said that the multi-materials drop off locations accept a wide range of 
containers.  Some containers, such as beer bottles, are refillable.  These items are 
presorted and shipped to a Materials Recovery Facility (MRF).  The main exception to 
these take-back programs is milk containers. 
 
The pharmaceuticals take-back programs are in place for over 90 percent of the 
pharmacies in the province.  The cost of running this program is $250,000 annually.  The 
cost to have a similar program in Washington State would be higher due to Drug 
Enforcement Agency (DEA) regulations. 
 
Gaisford said that the businesses have turned this into a good business model for them.  
They have taken back some products that were not mandated by law, to bring in 
customers.  Gaisford said that these take back centers are fully automated.  
 
A video presentation of the tour will be made available. 
 
More information on the tour can be found at:  
http://www.productstewardship.net/BCTourPresentations.html

 
Gaisford also shared information about a phonebook product stewardship meeting he 
attended last week.  He said that trade organizations and publisher representatives 
attended, as well as recycling staff.  The potential product stewardship program that was 
discussed at the meeting included the following elements:  an opt-out option for 
consumers, production standards, and best practices for recycling.  The trade groups are 
going to discuss these options with their boards in November.  Both trade organizations 
have national conferences in April where the product stewardship program may be 
discussed.   
 
V. Transfer System Level of Service and Recycling, Part II: Presentation and 
Discussion 
Severn presented data on the Self-Haul Level of Service Part II.  This can be viewed at: 
http://www.metrokc.gov/extranet/dnrp/swd/ITSGSelfHaulLOS210242007.ppt
(Note: please click “save-as” and save the file to your computer to view accompanying 
presentation notes) 
 
Severn said that 60 percent of the waste brought in by self-haul customers is recyclable.  
The majority of this percentage is yard waste; there is no place to source separate 

 4

http://www.productstewardship.net/BCTourPresentations.html
http://www.metrokc.gov/extranet/dnrp/swd/ITSGSelfHaulLOS210242007.ppt


recyclables at the transfer stations.  Hlavka suggested that staff be assigned to source 
separation.  Gaisford said that where it is possible, division staff may pull out recyclables, 
such as metal and wood, when they are dumped on the tipping floor.  
 
ITSG discussed the efficiency of collection events, and the limited space available at 
transfer stations.  Spille said that recyclables are collected efficiently with curbside 
service.  Severn noted that the feedback received thus far from the Solid Waste Advisory 
Committee (SWAC) and MSWMAC differs from this discussion.  Those advisory 
committees would still like to see curbside recyclables collected at transfer stations.  
Severn said that the preliminary data from recycling events shows a wide variation from 
$100 to $1,000 in costs per ton.   
 
Spille indicated that at Bellevue’s collection events they have stopped taking primary 
recyclables because it is better collected curbside.  Gaisford suggested that the recycling 
events can be replaced with some other type of program.  Breskin-Auer said that since 
there is still a high demand for these events.  She suggested there could be a transition 
from having collection events to offering curbside collection of the same materials. 
 
In response to the Transaction Fee recommendation slide, Van Orsow asked if the 
changes in the King County Code Title 10 allowed the division to set fees.  Severn 
answered that the Title 10 change allows the division to set fees for recyclables at transfer 
facilities for which a fee does not already exist.  Severn said that fees for recyclables are a 
way to show that recycling is not free, and could help to prioritize waste reduction and 
reuse.  Spille suggested that the fee for recyclables be set at a significant lower price from 
regular garbage fees in order to provide an incentive for recycling.  
 
ITSG discussed the concept of charging a transaction fee at the transfer stations.  Yates 
said that this is similar to the way other utilities operate, such as telephone or water, 
where a basic fee is charged for the service and then the customer is charged for usage.  
Van Orsow asked if surveys conducted at transfer stations showed a willingness to pay a 
fee.  Severn said the fee is not an additional one, but rather a new way of calculating the 
cost of operations.  The next rate study will be conducted in three years and a transaction 
fee could be implemented at that time.  
 
Severn said it cost approximately $1.1 million to haul approximately 6,000 tons of 
recyclables in 2006, which equates to about $142 a ton.  She said the division has 
proposed bringing the hauling in-house to save some on hauling cost.  Since recyclables 
are being collected curbside and there is limited space at the transfer stations, accepting 
the curbside mix of recyclables at the transfer stations might not be the best use of 
resources. 
 
ITSG discussed handling construction, demolition and landscaping (CDL) debris at the 
transfer stations.  Division staff member Brad Bell said that this policy is being examined 
to see if these loads can be redirected to Allied’s Black River CDL Transfer and 
Recycling Station. 
 
Next Step: 
The next ITSG meeting is scheduled for November 28th.   

 5



 
At ITSG’s request, Yates will talk to MSWMAC Chair Jean Garber about adding the 
report on the British Columbia Product Stewardship tour to the November MSWMAC 
agenda. 

 6


